2004

Vivian Jensen (Widow of Henning Sven Jensen) v.
Utah Labor Commission; Diamond Express LLC
and Truck Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Did the Labor Commission err in dismissing Vivian Jensen's death claim based on the limitation period in Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-417(3) when she filed her claim only 3 months and 9 days after the one-year anniversary of her husband's death due to the employer's and carrier's violations of her workers' compensation rights prior to expiration of the limitations period?

Standard of review. Correction of error. See, e.g., Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4); Savage Industries, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 811 P.2d 664 (Utah 1991); Bevans v. Industrial Commission, 790 P.2d 573 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); see also Miller v. Weaver, 2003 UT 12, 66 P.3d 592; Johnson v. Redevelopment, 2001 UT 67, 913 P.2d 723. This issue was preserved before the Labor Commission. See, e.g., Record at 30-59, 63-75, 99-108.

2. In the alternative, if the Labor Commission did not err in applying Utah workers' compensation law, is Vivian Jensen entitled to consideration of her death claim on the grounds that any requirement that she file the claim within one year is a violation of her rights under the Utah Constitution and the United States Constitution in that Utah workers' compensation law impermissibly and arbitrarily imposes such a short time limitation on death claims while allowing six years for filing even minimal non-death workers' compensation claims.

Standard of review. The Labor Commission left this issue for first consideration by the Court of Appeals based on Avis v. Board of Review, 837 P.2d 584, 586 (Utah Ct. App. 1992), cert. denied, 853 P.2d 897 (Utah 1993). Record at 110. Generally, correction of error applies to constitutional issues when they have been addressed below. See, e.g., Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(a) & (d); Grand County v. Emery County, 2002 UT 57, 57 P.3d 1148; Parks v. Utah Transit Authority, 2002 UT 55, 53 P.3d 473. In addition to the determination of the Labor Commission that this issue could be raised only in this appeal, the issue was preserved. Record at 44-48, 63-64, 106, 110.

3. Should Vivian Jensen be awarded workers' compensation benefits due to her husband's death in a violent work accident under the circumstances established in the record, particularly given the absence of any justification in the denial letter of the carrier for refusing to pay benefits?

Standard of review. Correction of error. See, e.g., Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4); Savage Industries, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Commission, 811 P.2d 664 (Utah 1991); Bevans v. Industrial Commission, 790 P.2d 573 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); see also Miller v. Weaver, 2003 UT 12, 66 P.3d 592; Johnson v. Redevelopment, 2001 UT 67, 913 P.2d 723. This issue was preserved before the Labor Commission, but the issue was not reached because of the Commission's error in dismissing Mrs. Jensen's claim as untimely. See, e.g., Record at 32, 48, 63, 106. No purpose would be served by remand to the Labor Commission because denial of benefits under the circumstances would be improper as a matter of law. See Workers' Compensation Fund v. Industrial

Commission, 761 P.2d 572 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

SIGNIFICANT PROVISIONS OF LAW

1. Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407(4)-(5) (2001)¹ stated:

(4) (a) In the form prescribed by the division, each employer shall file a report with the division of any:

- (i) work-related fatality; or
- (ii) work-related injury resulting in:
 - (A) medical treatment;
 - (B) loss of consciousness;
 - (C) loss of work;
 - (D) restriction of work; or
 - (E) transfer to another job.

(b) The employer shall file the report required by Subsection (4)(a) within seven days after:

- (i) the occurrence of a fatality or injury;
- (ii) the employer's first knowledge of the fatality or injury; or
- (iii) the employee's notification of the fatality or injury.

(c)

(d)

(5) Each employer shall provide the employee with:

- (a) a copy of the report submitted to the division; and
- (b) a statement, as prepared by the division, of the employee's rights and responsibilities related to the industrial injury.

2. The Division's Employee's Guide to Workers' Compensation (Record at 67-75) states in part that workers' compensation includes burial and dependent benefits in case of death (Q 9 & Q 18) and regarding "RESOLUTION" states:

Q 31. WHAT DO I DO IF MY CLAIM IS DENIED?

A. First talk with the insurance carrier or self-insured employer to find out why

¹Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407 was amended in 2003. At the time of the accident in January 2002, the obligations to provide a copy of the employer's report of injury and a statement of employee rights and responsibilities were in subsection (5) rather than, as now, in subsection (6).

your claim has been denied. If they lack information required to accept a claim, you can obtain the missing information and resubmit the claim. If this is unsuccessful, call the Division of Industrial Accidents with the Labor Commission at 530-6800 or toll free (800) 530-5090. The staff may be able to assist you with your claim or possibly file an application for hearing.

CLAIMS RESOLUTION CONFERENCE

The Utah Labor Commission now offers a program to resolve disputes that exist between the parties of a workers' compensation claim. Using Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) the parties agree to meet, and with the help of a neutral person, develop solutions, which resolve the issue(s) and mutually benefit both parties. If you are interested in requesting such a conference, please contact the Division of Industrial Accidents with the Labor Commission at 530-6800 or toll free (800) 530-5090.

Q 32.

Q 33. DO I NEED AN ATTORNEY TO HELP WITH MY CLAIM OR FILING FOR A HEARING?

A. An attorney is not required for filing a claim or filing for a hearing. However, if you choose an attorney, they must accept your case on a contingency basis. Your attorney's fees will come out of your compensation if you win. NOTE: The Labor Commission has staff available to explain your rights and responsibilities regarding workers' compensation.

Original emphasis.

3. Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-7.A-B states:

A. Upon receiving a claim for workers' compensation benefits, the insurance carrier or self-insured employer shall promptly investigate the claim and begin payment of compensation within 21 days from the date of notification of a valid claim or the insurance carrier or self-insured employer shall send the claimant and the division written notice on a division form or letter containing similar information, within 21 days of notification, that further investigation is needed stating the reasons(s) for further investigation. Each insurance carrier or self-insured employer shall complete its investigation within 45 days of receipt of the claim and shall commence the payment of benefits or notify the claimant and division in writing that the claim is denied and the reason(s) why the claim is

being denied.

B. The payment of compensation shall be considered overdue if not paid within 21 days of a valid claim or within the 45 days of investigation unless denied.

4. Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-3.E-F states:

E. "Employee Notification of Denial of Claim - Form 089" - This form is used by insurance carriers or self-insured employers to notify the claimant that his or her claim, in whole or part, is denied and the reason(s) why the claim is being denied. An insurance carrier or self-insured employer shall complete its investigation within 45 days of receipt of the claim and shall commence the payment of benefits or notify the claimant and the division in writing that the claim, in whole or part, is denied.

F. "Insurance Carriers/ Self-Insurer's Notice of Further Investigation of a Workers' Compensation Claim - Form 441" - This form is used by insurance carriers or self-insured employers to notify the claimant and the commission that further investigation is needed and the reasons for further investigation. This form or letter containing similar information is to be filed within 21 days of notification of claim that further investigation is needed.

5. Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-3.V states:

V. The division may approve change of any of the above forms upon public notice. Carriers may print these forms or approved versions.

6. Official Form 089, Record at 58 (copied in Addendum), states in part:

NOTICE TO THE CLAIMANT: If you are in disagreement with the denial and cannot resolve your differences by talking with thee carrier and/or your treating physician, you can file for mediation and/or application for hearing. To obtain an application for mediation and/or hearing, contact the Utah Labor Commission, Division of Industrial Accident at (801) 530-6800 or (800) 530-5090.

7. Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-417(2)-(3) states:

- (2) (a) A claim described in Subsection (2)(b) is barred, unless the employee:
- (i) files an application for hearing with the Division of Adjudication no later than six years from the date of the accident; and

- (ii)
- (b) Subsection (2)(a) applies to a claim for compensation for:
 - (i) temporary total disability benefits;
 - (ii) temporary partial disability benefits;
 - (iii) permanent partial disability benefits; or
 - (iv) permanent total disability benefits.
- (c)
- (3) A claim for death benefits is barred unless an application for hearing is filed within one year of the date of death of the employee.

8. Utah Constitution art. I, § 24 states:

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

9. Utah Constitution art. XVI, § 5 states:

The right of action to recover damages for injuries resulting in death, shall never be abrogated, and the amount recoverable shall not be subject to any statutory limitation, except in cases where compensation for injuries resulting in death is provided for by law.

10. United States Constitution, 14th Amendment, § 1 states:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioner, Vivian Jensen, seeks workers' compensation benefits due to the death of her husband, Henning Sven Jensen, on a Saturday evening, January 26, 2002, after driving his employer's truck from Salt Lake City as far as icy Interstate 90 just outside of Butte, Montana and suffering an accident that left his head crushed and pinned under the heavily-loaded vehicle. Record at 1-2, 4-9. A First Report of Injury was

completed by the employer, Diamond Express, on January 28, 2002 and filed with the Labor Commission but without a copy being provided to Mrs. Jensen. Record at 51, 56. The workers' compensation carrier for the employer, Truck Insurance Exchange prepared a denial letter dated March 8, 2002; this time the document was sent to Mrs. Jensen but without a copy being provided to the Labor Commission. Record Index; Record at 27, 57.

The decisions of the Labor Commission in this matter were based solely on the written submissions in the record; no evidence or argument was presented at any hearing. On May 5, 2003, 3 months and 9 days after the one-year anniversary of Mr. Jensen's death, Mrs. Jensen filed her Claim for Dependent's Benefits and/or Burial Benefits. Record at 1. On July 11, 2003, the employer and carrier moved to dismiss for failure to file the claim within one year under Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-417(3). Record at 19-25. After Mrs. Jensen's response establishing that she was entitled to benefits and that any lateness was a result of the employer's and carrier's earlier violation of duties owed to her, Record at 30-58, the administrative law judge ruled on October 2, 2003 that "the only exception to this limitation [Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-417(3)] is the tolling of the statute during the period of minority of minor dependents of the deceased worker," which was not involved in this case. Record at 60-61. Mrs. Jensen's motion for review filed October 27, 2003, Record at 63-65, was denied on April 20, 2004. Record at 109-112 (copied in Addendum). The Commission concluded that it could not "attribute Mrs. Jensen's failure to timely file her Application to Truck Insurance Exchange." Record at

110. Mrs. Jensen filed this appeal. See Record at 113.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Henning Sven Jensen died in an accident toward the end of a day-long drive from Salt Lake City after sliding off a highway covered by “a layer of ice from shoulder to shoulder,” near Butte, Montana on January 26, 2002. Record at 5-6, 56. The temperature was below freezing, and the ground was covered with two inches of snow. Record at 6. His employer’s truck rolled and crushed his head, leaving him pinned under the truck. Record at 5-9. The truck, weighted down with a load of doors, came down on Mr. Jensen with such force that the truck itself suffered significant structural damage. Record at 4, 6-7.

Blood and tissue stains depicted in photographs of the truck are testament to the violence Mr. Jensen suffered in the accident. Record at 51. The deputy coroner, not a physician, listed the immediate cause of death on the death certificate as myocardial infarction, or heart attack. Record at 2. No underlying basis for the “heart attack” conclusion is stated in the death certificate, Record at 2, or anywhere else in the record. The death certificate also fails to refer at all to the accident and leaves the “injury” boxes blank, including the question of whether or not there was an injury at work. Record at 2. There is no finding in the record that any heart attack was not related to the stress of Mr. Jensen’s work in having to deal with icy, night-time driving conditions, not to mention having his head crushed and trapped under the truck. The only evidence in the record directly addressing whether the injuries in the accident were a factor is the assurance of

the highway patrol reported in the Deseret News that Mr. Jensen, “who was wearing a seat belt, was partially ejected and crushed, his death the result of those injuries and not the heart attack.” Record at 9, 54. Indeed, Mr. Jensen was alone in the vehicle and there is no evidence that Mr. Jensen suffered any heart attack before the truck fell on his head and left him pinned to the ground. Record at 5-7. Rather the officer who prepared the police report arrived at 6:37 p.m. to find Mr. Jensen still pinned under the truck approximately one-half hour after the accident, Record at 5-7, and Mr. Jensen was not pronounced dead by the deputy coroner until 13 minutes after that, Record at 2.

Mrs. Vivian Jensen, Mr. Jensen’s wife of over 36 years, is the dependent entitled to workers’ compensation benefits due to Mr. Jensen’s death. Record at 3. Despite Utah Administrative Code Ann. R612-1-7.A, the employer and carrier failed to reasonably and promptly investigate her claim. First, the employer and carrier failed to obtain the information that would be available through an autopsy performed under Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-603. Record at 2, 33, 50-51. Instead, two days after the accident, asked by Form 122 “Employer’s First Report of Injury” “HOW INJURY OR ILLNESS/ABNORMAL HEALTH CONDITION OCCURRED. DESCRIBE THE SEQUENCE OF EVENTS AND INCLUDE OBJECTS OR SUBSTANCES THAT DIRECTLY INJURED THE EMPLOYEE OR MADE THE EMPLOYEE ILL,” the employer and carrier completely ignored the violence of the accident in which Mr. Jensen died crushed and trapped under the truck and reported simply that “according to coroners [sic] statement he died of a heart attack.” Record at 56. Despite Utah Code Ann. § 34A-

2-407(5)(a), neither the employer nor carrier provided a copy of the Employer's First Report of Injury to Mrs. Jensen. Having been informed by a police officer that her husband had died in an accident, Record at 50, expecting some sort of compensation because of his death on the job, Record at 51, and deprived of the hint of what was to come reflected in the Employer's First Report of Injury, Ms. Jensen permitted cremation of Mr. Jensen's body on January 31, 2002, Record at 51.

Despite Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407(5)(b) (2001), the employer also failed to provide Mrs. Jensen with any statement of "employee's rights and responsibilities related to the industrial injury." Id. The Labor Commission's "Employee's Guide to Workers' Compensation" (Record at 67-75) would have informed Mrs. Jensen that workers' compensation would pay for burial and dependent benefits in case of death (Q 9 & Q 18) and further informed her regarding "RESOLUTION":

Q 31. WHAT DO I DO IF MY CLAIM IS DENIED?

A. First talk with the insurance carrier or self-insured employer to find out why your claim has been denied. If they lack information required to accept a claim, you can obtain the missing information and resubmit the claim. If this is unsuccessful, call the Division of Industrial Accidents with the Labor Commission at 530-6800 or toll free (800) 530-5090. The staff may be able to assist you with your claim or possibly file an application for hearing.

CLAIMS RESOLUTION CONFERENCE

The Utah Labor Commission now offers a program to resolve disputes that exist between the parties of a workers' compensation claim. Using Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) the parties agree to meet, and with the help of a neutral person, develop solutions, which resolve the issue(s) and mutually benefit both parties. If you are interested in requesting such a conference, please contact the Division of Industrial Accidents with the Labor Commission at 530-6800 or toll free (800) 530-5090.

Q 32.

Q 33. DO I NEED AN ATTORNEY TO HELP WITH MY CLAIM OR FILING FOR A HEARING?

A. An attorney is not required for filing a claim or filing for a hearing. However, if you choose an attorney, they must accept your case on a contingency basis. Your attorney's fees will come out of your compensation if you win. NOTE: The Labor Commission has staff available to explain your rights and responsibilities regarding workers' compensation.

Record at 67, 69, 71, 73-74 (original emphasis).

Despite Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-7.A, the employer and carrier failed to do other things that they were required to do before they could deny payment, including (1) providing within 21 days of her claim a written "further-investigation" notice to Mrs. Jensen and the workers' compensation division "that further investigation is needed stating the reason(s) for further investigation," see Record Index; and (2) providing within 45 days written notice to Mrs. Jensen and the workers' compensation division "that the claim is denied and the reason(s) why the claim is being denied," see Record Index; Record at 27, 57. All the carrier did was send to Mrs. Jensen alone (nothing was sent to the workers' compensation division) a denial. See Record Index; Record at 27, 57, 109. Nothing in the March 8, 2002 denial improved on the failure of the Employer's First Report of Injury 39 days earlier to address Mr. Jensen's work accident. Although it is crystal clear that, even absent the type of violent accident suffered by Mr. Jensen, death due to heart attack "while . . . driving a truck for his employer," particularly long-

distance driving in difficult weather conditions,² is compensable, Workers' Compensation Fund v. Industrial Commission, 761 P.2d 572, 573 (Utah Ct. App. 1988), the carrier's denial misrepresented to Mrs. Jensen that the carrier "must regretfully deny any benefits of workers [sic] compensation" and noted inconsequentially that "[b]ased upon the death certificate and the police report, he died of a heart attack." Record at 27, 57. The summary denial letter made no reference to the fact noted in the police report that the truck had rolled and landed on Mr. Jensen's head. Record at 5.

The carrier also denied the claim in a way that for yet another time deprived Mrs. Jensen of critical information about the ease with which she could obtain assistance with her claim from the Labor Commission. The Labor Commission's official Form 89 for employers denying a claim in whole or in part, see Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-3.E and Utah Admin. Code Ann. R612-1-3.V, would have provided this notice³ to Mrs.

²In Workers' Compensation Fund, the employee suffering the heart attack was a 56-year-old man, 5'8" and 190 pounds, with a 36-year smoking habit and emphysema. 761 P.2d at 573.

³Mrs. Jensen has learned subsequent to filing this appeal that had the carrier sent a copy of the denial to the Labor Commission as required by rule, the Labor Commission, as a matter of practice not disclosed by any rule, would have sent out a letter to notify Mrs. Jensen of its availability to assist her. Due to the carrier's failure, no such letter was sent.

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