2004

Vivian Jensen (Widow of Henning Sven Jensen) v.
Utah Labor Commission; Diamond Express LLC
and Truck Insurance Exchange : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

for notification of a denial of the claim. Utah Administrative Code R612-1-3(E) references Form 89 as a form which may be used by an insurance carrier or self-insured employer to notify a claimant that her claim is denied and the reasons why the claim is denied. However, there is no requirement in the rule that such form be used. By way of contrast, R612-1-3 indicates that Forms 122, 221, 141, 142, 001, 025, 130, 102, 043 **must** be used pursuant to the provisions of the rules. The rules do not require the use of Form 89 as the exclusive method of notifying a claimant of the denial of her claim.

Second, Utah Administrative Code R612-1-7 governs the process for acceptance or denial of a claim. Nowhere in that rule, or any other rule, is there a requirement that an insurance carrier utilize Form 89 to notify a claimant of its denial of the claim. Rather, the rule requires either commencement of payment on the claim or denial of the claim “**in writing**” within the 45 day period. It is undisputed that the respondents notified the petitioner in writing of the denial of her claim along with the specific basis therefor within the required 45 day period. Thus, the respondents breached no duty to the petitioner with respect to their denial of the claim.

Third, in denying petitioner’s request for rehearing, Utah Labor Commissioner R. Lee Ellertson stated that Utah Administrative Code R612-1-3 does not require use of Form 89. (See Order Denying Motion for Review, at 2). In fact, “the Industrial Accidents Division has permitted use of other written forms of denial in the past.” *Id.* The Labor Commission has the power to create forms to be used in the workers’

compensation system and has the power and discretion to determine which forms are required and which forms are not. The Labor Commission has determined that use of the Form 89 is not required. For this reason, the Labor Commission dismissed petitioner's argument that failure of the respondents' use of Form 89 was sufficient to create an exception to the one-year statute of limitations. It would be inappropriate for this Court to make a determination with respect to which forms created by the Labor Commission must be used. There is no rule or statute which requires the use of Form 89. Therefore, the petitioner's argument with respect to such form should be disregarded.

Fourth, the petitioner argues that her failure to comply with the statute of limitations was due to the respondents' alleged failure to provide her with a statement of rights and responsibilities and that such statement would have prevented her from missing the statute of limitations deadline. Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407(6) requires an employer to provide **the employee** with "a statement, as prepared by the division, of the employee's rights and responsibilities related to the industrial injury." The petitioner was not an employee of Diamond Express, LLC. Rather, the petitioner was the spouse of the deceased employee. Nothing in the language of the statute cited by the petitioner imposes any duty upon the employer/carrier to provide the dependents of an injured or deceased worker with a statement of employee's rights and responsibilities. Indeed, it would be inappropriate and misleading for the employer/carrier to provide the non-employee petitioner with such a document, which was created for injured employee workers.

Fifth, and perhaps most importantly, even if the petitioner had been provided with the document entitled “Employee’s Guide to Workers’ Compensation” and with Form 89, **there is no reference in either one of those documents to a one-year statute of limitations.** Those documents simply state that if the petitioner has any questions, the petitioner could call the Labor Commission for further information. Nothing in Form 89 or the Employee’s Guide would have called her attention to a one-year statute of limitations for filing an application for a hearing as required by Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-417(3). In fact, the petitioner would likely have been led to believe by the Employee’s Guide, which refers to the six-year statute of limitations for temporary total compensation claims, that she had a larger amount of time to file her claim. The petitioner argues speculatively in this appeal that this case would have had a different outcome if she had received a Form 89 and an Employee’s guide. However, because those documents do not contain additional substantive information related to the petitioner’s particular claims, it is quite likely that she would have still retained her attorney and reached the same result despite receipt of the document.

The petitioner concedes on page 23 of Brief of Petitioner that the Employee’s Guide refers to several time limitations, including the six-year limitation for temporary total claims, but fails to mention the one-year limitation for death benefits claims. The fact that the Employee’s Guide makes no reference to the one-year limitation further supports the position of the Labor Commission that the guide is intended only for

employees and not for dependents of a deceased worker. If the Employee's Guide had been created for such dependents, it would have included the reference to the applicable statute of limitations for their claims.

Finally, even if it were determined that the respondents had an obligation to provide the petitioner with a statement of employee's rights and responsibilities, Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407 does not contain any provisions which allow for ignoring the applicable statute of limitations when an employer neglects to provide an injured employee with such statement. The drastic and unprecedented remedy requested by the petitioner is not supported by the applicable statutes and should be denied and disregarded.

The petitioner cites to numerous cases, mostly from other jurisdictions, to support the argument that the statute of limitations should be extended in this case. However, the cases cited by the petitioner deal with different statutory systems and none of those cases stand for the proposition that a statute of limitations for a workers' compensation death claim should be extended or tolled after an employer has timely denied a claim in writing in accordance with the rules of the jurisdiction.

The petitioner cites to Fowler v. Titus Manufacturing Co., 7234 P.2d 1309 (Okla. App. 1986) for the proposition that a statute of limitations may be tolled based upon the conduct of an employer in a non-death case. In Fowler, the Oklahoma Court of Appeals tolled the applicable statute of limitations based upon a specific statutory provision which

provides for tolling of the statute of limitations if an employer neglects to advise the employee of his right to file a workers' compensation claim. Id. Oklahoma has a specific statute which provides for the tolling of the statute of limitations. Thus, the Fowler case is useful only in demonstrating that the Oklahoma Court of Appeals adhered to the relevant statutes. The legislature in Utah has created no provisions regarding tolling the statute of limitations for failure of an employer to comply with workers' compensation rules and statutes. Additionally, the facts of the instant case demonstrate that the respondents complied with the relevant rules and statutes by sending to the petitioner a timely denial of the claim in writing. Therefore, the case law cited by the petitioner from other jurisdictions involving other statutory provisions should be disregarded as factually distinguishable from the instant case.

The petitioner also cites to Reynolds v. Worker's Compensation Appeals Board, 117 Cal.Rptr. 79, 527 P.2d 631, 632-33 (1974) in support of her argument. In Reynolds, the court noted the California statute which required an employer to provide an employee with notice that there is a possibility of workers' compensation benefits and to provide the employee with required language that "[i]f you wait too long, you may lose your right to benefits." Id. at 633. The employer in that case failed to provide the employee, as required by the statute, with language specifically referring to the potential for loss of claims through the limitations period. As a result, the court extended the period based upon failure to provide that required language. In the instant case, the respondents

complied with the relevant rules by providing the petitioner a denial in writing. Utah does not require that the employer provide the petitioner with any language or advice with respect to the applicable statutes of limitation. The Reynolds case dealt with an entirely different statutory scheme and should be disregarded in the resolution of the issues presented through the petitioner's appeal.

The petitioner cites to Interstate Electric Co. V. Industrial Commission, 591 P.2d 436, 438 (Utah 1979) for the proposition that late notice may be excused from an employee to an employer in a non-death case. In Interstate Electric Co., the employee failed to give notice to the employer of an industrial accident until three days after the date of the industrial accident because he thought that it was a minor injury from which he would quickly recover. A statute in force in 1979 stated that if an employee failed to notify the employer within 48 hours of the incident, the compensation would be reduced by 15%. The court held that the notice given one day after the expiration of the period did not prejudice the employer and that the 15% reduction should not be enforced.

The facts of the instant case are quite different from the facts of Interstate Electric Co. In that case, the employee reported the incident within three days of the date of the incident. That case did not involve a death. In the instant case, the petitioner failed to file her claim for more than one year and three months subsequent to death of her husband. The petitioner had a large amount of time within which to retain counsel, to assess the merits of her case, and to file an Application for Hearing. The petitioner failed to take

any action until more than three months after the expiration of the limitations period.

Therefore, her claim is barred by the statute.

The petitioner also cites to the Utah case of van der Heyde v. First Colony Insurance Co., 845 P.2d 275, 278-80 (Utah App. 1993) for the proposition that a defendant may be estopped from relying on a defense as a result of its own conduct. However, the van der Heyde case is not a workers' compensation case and does not involve the issue of tolling of a statute of limitations defense. That case involves a defendant's alleged violation of life insurance replacement regulations and has no application to the instant case. Additionally, the Utah Court of Appeals indicated in that case that estoppel requires "a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party that is inconsistent with a claim later asserted." Id. at 280. The evidence in the instant case shows that the respondents complied with all relevant statutes and administrative rules in providing the petitioner with a timely denial of her claim. There is no evidence that the respondents made any affirmative act or that any failure to act was inconsistent with the petitioner's claim filed after the expiration of the one year limitations period.

As outlined above, the cases cited by the petitioner from other jurisdictions are inapplicable in the instant case where the courts in those cases are construing statutes which are substantially different from Utah statutes. Additionally, the petitioner has not cited any Utah case which stands for the proposition that a statute of limitations may be tolled even though a defendant has complied with all relevant statutory and administrative

provisions. Therefore, the petitioner's arguments regarding an excusal for failure to comply with the statute of limitations in this case is unsupported and should be denied.

The petitioner was made aware of the respondents' denial of her claim based upon the information contained in the death certificate and police report which indicated that her husband's "heart attack" was the cause of death. As a result, she nearly immediately made the reasonable determination to contact an attorney with respect to such denial. In retaining counsel, the petitioner was entitled to a full explanation from her attorney with respect to her rights and responsibilities under Utah's Workers' Compensation Act. The petitioner's quick retention of counsel demonstrates that the petitioner was not prejudiced by any conduct of the respondents. Rather, as outlined below, the petitioner was prejudiced solely by the conduct of her prior counsel. As such, the petitioner's remedy should be sought through a legal malpractice action against her prior counsel.

As outlined above, there is no support for the petitioner's argument that the respondents breached any duty to the petitioner. Even if it were determined that the respondents breached a duty to the petitioner through failure to utilize the Form 89 and failure to provide the petitioner with a statement of rights and responsibilities, and that the petitioner was prejudiced thereby, there is no legal support for the argument that the petitioner's drastic remedy would be that she has the ability to file her claim at any time without reference to the applicable statute of limitations. R612-1-7, which governs the procedure for acceptance and denial of a claim, sets forth no such remedy. Additionally,

as the petitioner concedes on page 23 of Brief of Petitioner, the Employee's Guide refers to several time limitations, including the six-year limitation for temporary total claims, but makes no mention of the one year statute of limitations for death claims. Neither the Employee's Guide nor Form 89 make any reference to the one year statute of limitations. Therefore, there is no indication that the petitioner's receipt of such documents would have yielded any different result in this case. In fact, it is likely that the referral to longer limitations periods in the Employee's Guide would have caused the petitioner believe that she had a longer period than one year within which to file her claim. The petitioner has provided no legal support for the proposition that the alleged conduct of the respondents justifies ignoring an unambiguous statute of limitation. Accordingly, the petitioner's argument for an exception to the statute of limitations should be disregarded.

In her Brief, the petitioner makes several unfounded and outrageous allegations as to the intentions of the respondents with respect to her claims. Indeed, the petitioner has alleged that the employer and carrier "focused their efforts on trying to get rid of the claim rather than on investigating it and proceeded at every turn in the way most likely to leave Mrs. Jensen in the dark." Brief of Petitioner at 17. Additionally, the petitioner refers to an "unbroken pattern of disregard for Mrs. Jensen's rights." Brief of Petitioner at 30. The petitioner alleges that the respondents were "electing not to preserve evidence directly related to the issue by requesting an autopsy." Brief of Petitioner at 22. These allegations are offensive, without foundation in the record, and should be disregarded.

The record demonstrates that the respondents complied with all relevant requirements under Utah law. There is no evidence that the respondents engaged in any conduct to deprive the petitioner of her rights.

The record demonstrates that Mr. Jensen died on the evening of January 26, 2002. Record at 1-2. On January 31, 2002, within a few days of the accident, the petitioner had her husband's body cremated. Record at 51. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407(5)(b), an employer must notify the carrier and the division within seven days after the occurrence of a fatality. Thus, the cremation occurred even before the employer was required to report the incident to the insurance carrier. Additionally, all of the evidence as contained in the police report and coroner's report demonstrated that Mr. Jensen died of a heart attack. The petitioner's allegation regarding a motive of the respondents not to preserve evidence and order an autopsy is inappropriate, wholly without support, and should be disregarded especially in light of the fact that a cremation occurred before the employer was even required to notify the carrier of the incident.

B. Petitioner's Reliance on *Vigos v. Mountainland Builders, Inc.* For Support of Her Claims is Unsupported by the Facts of This Case.

The petitioner argues that the case of Vigos v. Mountainland Builders, Inc., 993 P.2d 207 (Utah 2000) contains support for her argument that the statute of limitations should be ignored in this case. In Vigos, the Utah Supreme Court held that a claim for permanent total disability benefits filed more than six years after the industrial incident was not barred by the statute of limitations because the employer/carrier originally

accepted the claim as compensable, paid disability benefits, and paid medical expenses within the six-year period. Id. at 213-214. Based upon those facts, the court determined that the Commission had original jurisdiction over the claim prior to the expiration of the six-year statute of limitation period. Id. at 214.

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